IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN KALISZ,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

F FLORIDA

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438

and LEONARD R. ROSS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0332712 444Seabreeze Blvd. Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 254-3758

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The original record on appeal comprises sixteen consecutively numbered volumes. The pages of the first seven volumes are numbered consecutively from 1 to 1,076. Volume eight begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page 1 to 214. Volume nine begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page 1 to 1325. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using the appropriate Roman numeral to designate the volume number followed the appropriate Arabic number referring to the appropriate pages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John W. Kalisz, hereinafter referred to as appellant, was indicted by Grand Jury with two counts of Murder in the First Degree, two counts of Attempted First Degree Murder, one count of Burglary with a Firearm and one count of Possession of Firearm by Felon. (I 10) The appellant filed a Motion in Limine to Strike Portions of the Florida Standard Jury Instruction in Criminal Cases. (I 47) The appellant filed fifteen pretrial motions challenging the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty scheme.¹ The trial court denied these motions. (IV 608-611) The appellant filed a Motion for Notice of Aggravating Factors which the trial court denied. (IV 609)

The appellant filed a pre-trial Motion to Suppress statements made to law enforcement on January 27, 2010. (I 41) The trial court denied the Motion to Suppress. (IV 625) The case proceeded to trial. (IX 4) The appellant made a Motion to Sever Count VI (Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon) which was granted. (IX 4)

¹ Non-unanimous Jury Recommendation, Violates *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, I 50; Indictment fails to include aggravating factors, I 53; Apprendi/Ring, II 57; Statutory factors vague and overly broad, III 261; CCP Aggravating Factor is vague and overly broad, III 266; Prior Violent Felony Aggravating Factor as applied fails to limit the class of death eligible defendants, III 305; Rule 3.202 Rule of Criminal Procedure is one-sided, III 315; HAC aggravating factor is vague and overbroad, III 326; Objection to Death Qualification of Jury, III 377; Use of Hearsay Evidence in Penalty Phase, III 412; Victim Impact Evidence, III 417; Felony Murder aggravating factor is vague and overly broad, IV 475; Under Age, Disability aggravating factor is vague and overly broad, IV 475; Under Sentence of Imprisonment aggravating factor is vague and overly broad, IV 492; Fact Finding by Judge Only/Ring, IV 496.



The appellant objected to the introduction of an autopsy photograph of victim Tillotson on the grounds that the gruesome picture was prejudicial and did not prove any fact in dispute. (XII 622) The trial court overruled the objection on the grounds that the autopsy proved the identity of the victim. (XII 624) The appellant also made the same objection to the autopsy photo of victim Donovan, and it was also denied. (XII 627)

The appellant renewed his Motion to Suppress the appellant's statement given from the hospital. (XII 660, 776) The appellant objected to autopsy photograph MM based on relevancy. (XIII 909) The appellant further argued that there was ample testimony of the extent of the victims wounds and the photograph was merely prejudicial and meant to inflame the passion of the jury. (XIII 909) The medical examiner confirmed that the autopsy photo would assist in his testimony. (XIII 910) The trial court overruled the objection. (XIII 910) The appellant further objected to autopsy photograph OO because it was redundant and repetitive. (XIII 912) The appellant further argued that the photo was disgusting and was being used to inflame the jury and "get them riled up." (XIII 912) The medical examiner stated that autopsy photo would assist in his testimony. (XIII 911) The trial court overruled the objection. (XIII 913)

The state rests. (XIII 919) The appellant made a Motion for Judgment of

Acquittal specifically to Count Five (Burglary) on the grounds that there was no evidence presented that the appellant did not have permission to be at the victim's home. (XIV 924) The evidence showed that the victim's home was a business which implies that it's open to the public, and further it would be a family member that people go and visit and see. (XIV 924) The state argued that before victim Kathryn Donovan was shot she stated "what the hell are you doing here." (XIV 924) This statement by victim Donovan supports the contention that the issue of consent of the appellant to be at the house is a jury question. (XIV 924) The trial court denied the appellant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal. (XIV 925) The appellant rested. (XIV 928) The appellant renewed his Motion for Judgment Acquittal, and the trial court denied the motion. (XIV 929) The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged as to all five Counts in the Indictment. (XIV 1022, 24)

Penalty Phase

The appellant objected to the jury being instructed on the aggravating factor of Knowingly Creating a Risk of Death to Many Persons. (XV 1033) The appellant argued that this case did not involve a bomb or an arson and the shooting was not in a public place. (XV 1034) The trial court will permit the instruction over appellant's objection. (XV 1036) The appellant objected to the jury being instructed on the aggravating factor of Avoiding or Preventing a Lawful Arrest or

Escape from Custody. (XV 1036) The trial court ruled that whether or not the Lawful Arrest aggravating factor applies is a jury question. (XV 1039) Concerning the Prior Violent Felony aggravating factor, the appellant made a Motion in Limine to exclude the crimes committed by the appellant in Dixie County on the grounds that the state has already proven beyond a reasonable doubt four contemporaneous violent felony convictions. (XV 1043) The trial court denied the appellant's Motion in Limine. (XV 1044)

The appellant objected to the state introducing victim impact evidence on the grounds that the penalty phase is to determine whether aggravating and mitigating factors exist and victim impact evidence is not relevant to this phase of the trial. (XV 1072) The trial court permitted the victim impact statement of the daughter of the victim Deborah Tillotson over appellant's objection. (XV 1074) The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 12-0. (XVI 1315)

At sentencing, the state announced a "nolle pros" as to Count IV Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon. (VII 1067) The trial court submitted a written Sentencing Order where the court found six aggravating factors and one statutory mitigating factor and several non-statutory mitigating circumstances. (VI 829) The trial court found that the aggravating factors outweigh the mitigating factors and sentenced the appellant to death for the murder of Kathryn Donovan and for

the murder of Deborah Tillotson, and sentenced the appellant to life imprisonment on the remaining counts. (VI 845-846) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the afternoon of January 14, 2010 John Kalisz went to Larry Lemon's house. (XI 468) Kalisz came to Lemon's residence in a white Ford Aerostar Van with Colorado license plates. (XI 472) Kalisz had a black semi-automatic 9mm handgun and asked Lemon if he could shoot target practice with the gun. (XI 473) Kalisz then proceeded to take 5 to 7 practice shots with his hand gun. (XI 474) Lemon felt threatened by Kalisz and "wanted to get away from him" and told Kalisz it was time to leave. (XI 475) Kalisz got in his van and drove out to the road and stopped for a while. (XI 475) Kalisz subsequently left. (XI 476) Lemon thought that Kalisz was acting strangely before he left. (XI 478) Soon thereafter, the Hernando County Sheriff's Office received a 911 call. (XI 456) The caller reported that there was a shooting at 15303 Wilhelm in Brooksville. (XI 460) The caller stated that an unidentified man came in the house and started shooting and he has "shot four of us." (XI 461)

The appellant's niece Manessa Donovan described the shooting that was first reported on the 911 call. (XI 495) Appellant's sister Kathryn Donovan and her employees were finishing work early. (XI 495) Kathryn Donovan was getting

ready to leave to run some errands. (XI 495) Donovan's employee Debra Tillotson went out to smoke a cigarette and Manessa Donovan joined her. (XI 496) Donovan's employee Amy Wilson was inside the shed cleaning up everything. (XI 496) Suddenly Kathryn Donovan screamed "what the hell are you doing here." (XI 497) Three gunshots rang out from within the house. (XI 497) The appellant said nothing as he approached Manessa Donovan and shot her three or four times. (XI 499) Donovan thought that the appellant would not stop shooting her until he thought she was dead so she closed her eyes and put her head down. (XI 499) When Donovan opened her eyes again, she saw the appellant walking away towards Amy. (XI 499) Amy Wilson began to flee, and the appellant shot her and Wilson fell to the ground. (XI 500) The appellant then walked over to Wilson and shot her one more time. (XI 500) After Wilson was shot the initial time, she plead for her life stating please don't kill me. (XI 501)

Donovan could not tell whether the appellant had been drinking the day of the shooting. (XI 510) Donovan described the appellant as being like a statute. (X 510) Donovan further described the appellant as having eyes that were black and she thought he was on drugs. (XI 512) The appellant had no recognition, and Donovan thought the appellant was "demon possessed." (XI 512) Law enforcement subsequently recovered eleven bullet casings from the scene of the shooting. (XI 536)

The Sportsman Attic is a store in Hernando County that sells firearms, ammunition and other accessories for firearms. (XII 560) The day before the shooting, the Sportsman Attic sold to "John" two magazines for a Barretta handgun and full metal jacket ammo for target practice and hollow point bullets for home protection. (XII 563)

Todd Linville has been a friend with the appellant for the past four years. (XII 577) Linville and the appellant attended AA meetings together. (XII 594) The night before the shooting, the appellant came to Linville's home and returned a "Speaker CD" and asked Linville to put a package in the mail. (XII 579) The appellant had a bottle of liquor with him, which was out of character because the appellant did not drink and the appellant was a member of Alcoholics Anonymous. (XII 580) The appellant was "a wreck and hopeless." (XII 594) The appellant sat in Linville's living room and watched the news and talked for a while, all the while taking sips of liquor straight out of the bottle. (XII 581) The appellant "almost threw up." (XII 582) The appellant fell asleep in Linville's recliner at 4:30 am. (XII 583)

The appellant awoke the next morning and told Linville his plans for the day. (XII 584) The appellant planned to go to the trailer park where he had his

trailer, touch base with his brother and then he had an appointment with somebody concerning his parole. (XII 584) Later in the afternoon the appellant called Linville and told him that he had taken care of a problem at his sister's house. (XII 585) The appellant told Linville that his sister ruined his life, so he ruined her life. (XII 592) The appellant blamed his sister for his problems including losing his job in Colorado and losing his inheritance. (XII 595) The appellant further told Linville that he was thinking of heading to the Keys and if anyone tried to stop him the appellant would put his gun to his head. (XII 593)

After the shooting, Lieutenant Michael Brannin of the Dixie County Sheriff's Department received a BOLO for a white Ford van with racks on the top and Colorado license plates. (XII 633) Deputy Brannin found the appellant traveling north on U.S. 19. (XII 635) The appellant turned into a parking lot of a BP gas station. (XII 636) Deputy Brannin parked his vehicle in front of the appellant, and after the Deputy exited his pick-up truck, the appellant brandished a firearm. (XII 637) Deputy Brannin fired four shots into the appellant's windshield. (XII 639) The appellant was disarmed, arrested and subsequently transported from the scene by EMS. (XII 641, 651)

Special Agent Barbara McGraw of FDLE investigated the officer involved shooting of the appellant. (XII 658) Agent McGraw obtained a recorded statement

from the appellant at Shands Hospital. (XII 659) The appellant had been in the hospital for thirteen days. (XII 738) The appellant indicated that he understood his rights because "he had been read them a million times;" and waived his *Miranda* rights prior to making the statement. (XII 662, 727, 736) The appellant was orientated to self (he knew he was in a hospital) but did not know the correct city, date or year. (XII 726)

Amy Green² was a survivor of the appellant's shooting spree. (XIII 749) Green heard a big bang and saw Kathryn Donovan fall to the floor. (XIII 750) Green hollered to the others to run, and then Green got shot in the stomach and fell to the ground. (XIII 751) Green got up and ran to the other side of the house. (XIII 752) The appellant came behind Green and tripped her. (XIII 752) Green asked the appellant: "Who are you?" "Why are you doing this?" "I don't even know you." (XIII 752) The appellant then shot Green in the neck. (XIII 752) Green then "played possum" and acted like she was dead waiting for the appellant to leave. (XIII 753) The bullet in Green's neck can not be removed because it could cause paralysis. (XIII 755)

Kalisz's Confession

The appellant bought a gun to conduct an operation against his sister Kitty.

² Amy Green was formerly known as Amy Wilson.

(XIII 810) The appellant had been planing the operation for a while. (XIII 873) The operation was to "erase the hell out (of) that Kitty and her blood line." (XIII 811) The appellant asked whether his sister lived after he had started shooting everybody. (XIII 817) The appellant entered his sister's house through the backdoor and shot his sister first. (XIII 861) The appellant then shot everyone else at the house until they shut up. (XIII 820) The appellant was at Kitty's house for a couple of minutes. (XIII 858) After shooting everyone at Kitty's house the appellant's plan was to get out of Florida. (XIII 821) The appellant was subsequently stopped at a gas station, and guns were drawn and many shots were fired. (XIII 822)

Kitty was the main objective. (XIII 853) The appellant decided to carry out his plan after the appellant's probation officer Ms. Whipple told appellant he could not leave the State of Florida and return to Colorado to get his tools. (XIII 853, 54)

Medical Examiner

Dr. Kyle Shaw is the medical examiner who conducted the autopsy on the victims Deborah Tillotson and Kathryn Donovan. (XIII 889, 906) Tillotson had a gunshot wound on her right arm just above the bend of the elbow. (XIII 894) Tillotson also had a gunshot wound on her left thigh. (XIII 896) Finally, there

were also two gunshot wounds on her left lower abdomen. (XIII 898) Tillotson's cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds. (XIII 903) Donovan had three gunshots wounds on her back. (XIII 911) Donovan's cause of death was also multiple gunshot wounds. (XIII 917)

Penalty Phase

State Case

The appellant shot and killed Capt. Chad Reed of the Dixie County Sheriff's Office at a BP station in Dixie County on January 14, 2010. (XV 1065) The state introduced a certified copy of a judgment involving the appellant where he was convicted and sentenced on a charge of first-degree murder while armed with regard to Capt. Chad Reed. (XV 1066)

Sheena Whipple of the Florida Department of Corrections, Probation and Parole began probation supervision of the appellant in November 2009, for the charge of aggravated assault with a deadly weapon in Hernando County, Florida. (XV 1070)

Appellant's Case

The appellant had five brothers and sisters. (XV 1088) After the appellant left the Army, he became close to his younger sister Linda. (XV 1089) For three years in the early 80s, the appellant would do "a lot of partying." (XV 1089) The appellant did not have a home, and he drifted with different people and crash where he could find a place. (XV 1089) The appellant would spend his days and evenings drinking until he would fall asleep. (XV 1089) The appellant's sister Linda ended the relationship because she wanted to leave the partying lifestyle. (XV 1090) The appellant drifted out West and became homeless. (XV 1090)

In the early months of 1990, the appellant called his sister Linda and said it had been three days and he did not have a drink. (XV 1091) Soon thereafter, appellant's brother Michael committed suicide. (XV 1093) The appellant's brother Michael had a substance abuse problem and was a terrible alcoholic. (XV 1093) The appellant's two other brothers were alcoholics too. (XV 1093)

The appellant stopped drinking and looked vibrant and healthy again. (XV 1093) The appellant started a new life with his home-based business at Estes Park, Colorado. (XV 1094) The appellant became a member of Alcoholics Anonymous, and that group became a very big part of his life. (XV 1095) The appellant also became a roofer, and the appellant would hire people that needed his help. (XV 1095) The appellant dedicated his life to helping other alcoholics. (XV 1096) In Estes Park, everyone knew the appellant and loved him. (XV 1110) With his brother's ex-wife the appellant went to AA meetings twice a day, performed service work and traveled the country to AA conferences. (XV 1118)

The appellant became an Alcoholics Anonymous group service representative where he traveled to assemblies three times a year, and then reported back to the local group to let them know what happened at the area level. (XV 1119) The appellant became know as a "Big Book Thumper." (XV 1143) The Alcohol Anonymous Big Book is the story of the two founders of Alcohol Anonymous and their struggles to recover from alcoholism. (XV 1144) A Big Book Thumper is person that is sponsoring someone and strictly follows the methods found in the Big Book. (XV 1144)

In 2008 the appellant's mother died of colon cancer. (XV 1096) The appellant returned to Colorado and just broke down. (XV 1098) The appellant cried and told his friends how much his mom had meant to him. (XV 1098)

The appellant had legal problems involving his niece Manessa, and the appellant was placed on probation in 2009. (XV 1098) The appellant was not allowed to return to Colorado. (XV 1099) Colorado was the appellant's sanctuary and where he had support for his alcoholism. (XV 1099) In Florida the appellant's support started to falter. (XV 1099) The appellant could not reach his sponsor which was like a priest to him. (XV 1100) The appellant was living in a mobile home that he had purchased in Springhill. (XV 1100) The mobile home had burnt to the ground and all the appellant's material things "went up in smoke." (XV

1100) The appellant sounded worse than he had ever been in his homeless days, he was filled with despair, he was extremely depressed and he was lost. (XV 1101) The appellant was hopeless, he had nothing left, he had failed to reach his sponsor, and had nowhere to go. (XV 1101) The appellant's family shunned him and Alcoholics Anonymous shunned him "so he was just lost." (XV 1101) The night before the shootings, the appellant tried to reach his sponsor several times without success. (XV 1169) The appellant spoke to his sister Linda two times the day of the shooting. (1103) In the second phone call the appellant told his sister about murdering his other sister. (XV 1104) The appellant told his sister Linda "that it was over." (XV 1104) The appellant's sister questioned the appellant further and the appellant was very difficult to understand. (XV 1104)

Carl Sauerwein is an LP Gas Inspector for the State of Florida. (XV 1192) Sauerwein investigated a LP gas fire at the appellant's RV that occurred on January 12, 2010. (XV 1194) Sauerwein concluded that there was an open gas line in the appellant's mobile home, and the appellant's mobile home exploded when the appellant tried to light the stove. (XV 1196)

Dr. Peter Bursten is a forensic psychologist that evaluated the appellant. (XVI 1211) Prior to meeting the appellant, Bursten reviewed discovery information, police reports and other background information pertinent to the

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