IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

2010 FEB 18 ANTH: 57

and the second

JOHN KALISZ,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC12-580

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MITCHELL D. BISHOP ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 43319

Office of the Attorney General 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 E-Mail: Mitchell.Bishop@myfloridalegal.com (386)238-4990 (386)226-0457 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

D. Harmless Error

Even if this court finds that the confession was improperly obtained, the Appellant has conceded harmless error as it applies to his convictions and only challenges the statements as they were applied to the cold, calculated, and premeditated CCP aggravator at sentencing. First, there is independent evidence to support the CCP aggravator even without the confession to law enforcement on January 27, 2010. The Defendant purchased ammunition and additional magazines for his semi-automatic pistol the day before the murders. The Defendant's pistol was equipped with a laser sight to improve the accuracy of his shots. The Defendant made admissions about his plan to take out his sister to Todd Linville prior to the murders. The day of the murders, the Defendant engaged in target practice right before the murders at a farm seventeen minutes away Donovan's house. None of the victims in this case posed a threat to Kalisz. They were all unarmed and surprised by his presence when he showed up at Donovan's house and began shooting. Lastly, Kalisz' made a phone call after the murders to tell Mr. Lemon and his sister that he had "taken care of the problem."

Secondly, even if this Court finds that the aggravator was applied in error, such error was harmless. When this Court strikes an aggravating factor on appeal, "the harmless error test is applied to determine whether there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the sentence." *Jennings v. State*, 782 So. 2d 853,

863 n. 9 (Fla. 2001); see also Douglas v. State, 878 So. 2d 1246, 1268 (Fla. 2004) ("Striking [an] aggravator necessitates a harmless error analysis."). See also Hill v. State, 643 So. 2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1994) ("When this court strikes one or more aggravating circumstances relied upon by a trial judge in sentencing a defendant to death, we may conduct a harmless error analysis based on what the sentencer actually found in determining whether the sentence of death is still appropriate.") Diaz v. State, 860 So. 2d 960, 968 (Fla. 2003) (harmless error found after court struck HAC).

Even without the CCP aggravator—and even if the Appellant prevails on issues II and III—three independent, uncontested, and weighty aggravators remain. At the time of the murders, Kalisz was on felony probation for contributing to the delinquency of a minor and aggravated assault with a deadly weapon. Kalisz was convicted of those offenses in 2009 after a plea of nolo contendere. The victims in those cases were Manessa Donovan and her boyfriend. As a condition of the felony probation, Kalisz was ordered to have no contact with Manessa, whom he attempted to murder in this case. The contemporaneous murders of Donovan and Tillotson and attempted murders of Wilson and Manessa all served as prior capital felonies for each death sentence; in addition to the prior capital felony for Capt. Reed's murder and the prior violent felony for aggravated assault in 2009. Finally, the Defendant committed the murders during the course of a burglary. The

remaining, uncontested aggravation significantly outweighs the mitigation in this case and therefore any error in the trial court finding CCP is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ISSUE II: WHETHER THE APPELLANT KNOWINGLY CREATED A GREAT RISK OF HARM TO MANY PEOPLE

The Defendant challenges the trial court's finding of the statutory aggravator that Kalisz knowingly created a great risk of harm to many people (hereinafter "great risk aggravator"). The Defendant objected to the court instructing the jury on this statutory aggravator at the penalty phase of trial. The trial court found that, despite this Court's "rule of four" in *Johnson v. State*, 696 So. 2d 317 (Fla. 1997), the Defendant engaged in "indiscriminant shooting" placing at least four persons in "an immediate and present risk of death," resulting in a "high probability" of death.

A. The Standard of Appellate Review

The review of a trial court's finding of an aggravating factor is limited to whether the trial court applies the correct law and whether its finding is supported by competent, substantial evidence. *Willacy v. State*, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla. 1997); see also Cave v. State, 727 So. 2d 227, 230 (Fla. 1998).

B. Case Law Supporting the Trial Court's Finding

To support a finding of this aggravator, the State must prove that the Defendant knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons. *Johnson*, 696 So. 2d at 325. To establish this aggravator, there "must be a likelihood or high

probability of death." *Id.* This Court has previously defined "many persons" to mean four or more persons other than the victim. *Id.* Where the Defendant engages in "indiscriminant shooting" towards more than one victim, the victims can be considered to be in "an immediate and present risk of death" and "in the line of fire." *Silvia v. State*, 60 So. 3d 959, 972 (Fla. 2011).

While Johnson requires a strict counting test—there must be a victim plus four more people—this Court previously found the aggravator to apply in arson cases even where the burned structure contained only one person. See Way v. State, 496 So. 2d 126, 128 (Fla. 1981) (only a child playing and the two murder victims lying in the garage with blunt force trauma to the head occupied the house at the time of the fire, but police and firemen were endangered in their rescue attempt and combustible materials were present in the garage area); Welty v. State, 402 So. 2d 1159, 1164 (Fla. 1981) (aggravator found where six people were asleep, not in the burned condominium unit, but simply in the same building of contiguous condominium units as the one burned); King v. State, 390 So. 2d 315, 320 (Fla. 1980) (receded from on other grounds by Strickland v. State, 437 So. 2d 150 (Fla. 1983) ("When the appellant intentionally set fire to the house, he should have reasonably foreseen that the blaze would pose a great risk to the neighbors, as well as the firefighters and the police who responded to the call").

While the arson cases predate Johnson, they illustrate a salient point: indiscriminate shooting in a residential neighborhood and at a roadside gas station places everyone in the neighborhood, at the gas station, and the police that respond in just as much danger as the neighbors of a burning house or condominium and the firefighters who respond. Another factor that is not clear in the Johnson case: when does the counting start and when does it stop? In Parker v. State, this Court found that the defendant had placed 23 people in danger in addition to the murder victim. 641 So. 2d 369, 377 (Fla. 1994). However, 16 of those people were in the store the defendant robbed prior to the homicide. Id. at 372. The 17th endangered person was a deputy who was shot at in the parking lot outside while responding to the robbery. Id. The 18th through 22nd endangered persons were five family members in a car the defendant fired into when he attempted to commandeer their vehicle. Id. Upon hearing about the robbery, the murder victim went outside a neighboring establishment along with several other patrons and the victim pursed the defendant down the street. Id. The Parker facts do not indicate that the "several other patrons" pursued the defendant with the victim and it does not appear that they were counted in the Court's analysis. Id. When the victim was shot while running down the street after the defendant, one person witnessed the victim clutch his stomach and fall to the ground—the 23rd endangered person. Id. In the Parker fact pattern, only one person actually witnessed the defendant kill the victim and it

is unclear as to whether that witness was even in the line of fire when the victim was shot. In *Parker*, this Court counted persons whom the defendant put in great risk of danger from four separate and distinct events both leading up to and in flight from the murder.

Furthermore, this Court has found that crimes that occurred days apart can be connected in an "episodic sense." *Fotopoulos v. State*, 608 So. 2d 784 (Fla. 1992) (citing Bundy v. State, 455 So. 2d 330, 345 (Fla. 1984). In *Fotopoulos*, the defendant and his co-conspirator video tapped the murder of the first victim and then Fotopoulos used the video as leverage to get the co-conspirator to contract a hit-man to kill Fotopoulos' wife for insurance proceeds. *Fotopoulos*, 608 So. 2d at 786. After the hit-man was unsuccessful, Fotopoulos killed the hit-man in an attempt to cover up the conspiracy. *Id.* The second murder in *Fotopoulos* occurred several days after the first and this Court affirmed the trial court's ruling that the two offenses were connected. *Id.* at 790.

Kalisz' actions during and after the murders in this case are clear indicators of the great danger to which he exposed so many people. When Sheriff's deputies responded to the Donovan home with shotguns and weapons drawn, they were responding to an active shooter and four people had already been gunned down. Although he had fled the Donovan home when the deputies arrived, Kalisz' deadly shootout with the more than a half-dozen DCSO deputies at the gas station—where

he killed Capt. Reed—makes it crystal clear that he would not have surrendered if he had still been at the Donovan home when HCSO arrived. When DCSO deputies responded to the BOLO less than two hours after the Donovan and Tillotson murders, Kalisz was still in flight from those murders and rather than surrendering he started a public gunfight and killed a police officer. Law enforcement gave Kalisz a chance to surrender and they had to shoot him multiple times before he lowered his weapon. Every law enforcement officer that responded to the 911 call at the Donovan home and the BOLO in Dixie County was in great danger. Kalisz told Todd Linville the night before the Donovan and Tillotson murders that he was going to take his sister out and he did not care if the police tried to stop him. Kalisz told law enforcement that his plan was to "erase the hell out of Kitty and her blood line" with "as many bullets as it takes" then "get out of Florida."

Amanda Prestigiacomo and her five-year-old daughter were walking out in the neighborhood when Kalisz arrived at Donovan's home. It is reasonable to infer that Prestigiacomo's daughter was outside playing when Kalisz began firing bullets in any direction he saw a person standing in the backyard. Donovan's neighbors were in danger when Kalisz gunned down everyone on the Donovan property. One of the bullet's Kalisz fired at Donovan passed through the glass door in the direction of the occupants of the backyard and whoever was beyond the yard. Bullets that can travel from inside to outside through glass doors can travel from

outside to inside through glass doors and windows. Kalisz should have foreseen that his flurry of deadly gunfire would pose a great risk to those in the neighborhood. Every neighbor inside and outdoors in the vicinity of the Donovan home was in grave danger when Kalisz began his barrage of deadly shooting, especially five-year-old Allison Prestigiacomo who was playing outside when the gunfire started.

If the murders that occurred days apart in the Fotopoulos case are connected episodically, then the murders and the shootout in this case that occurred within two hours of one another are certainly connected episodically. But for the geographic accident of Kalisz traveling into another judicial circuit, these crimes would likely have been joined for the same trial. Fotopoulos, 608 So. 2d at 789 (citing Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.150). During the course of the murders at the Donovan house and the shootout in Dixie County in flight from the murders, Kalisz knowingly created a great risk of death to the following persons: all four victims at Donovan's house, Amanda Presigiacomo and her five-year-old daughter, and at least five Dixie County Sheriff's deputies. If the sequence of events in the Parker case merit counting 23 individuals from four separate, episodically connected transactions, then certainly the 11 people Kalisz endangered in two separate, episodically connected transactions should be counted as the sum of persons Kalisz endangered.

Even if the Court does not connect the murders and the shootout to reach the required number under Johnson, the facts of this case demonstrate the flaw in Johnson's arithmetic formula: just because four people in addition to the victim were not in the immediate line of fire all at the same time does not mean that many people were not exposed to great risk or danger leading up to, during the course of, and in flight from the murders. While the Court could strike this aggravator in Kalisz' case and his death sentences will likely remain (three uncontested and weighty aggravators remain even if the Appellant prevails on issues I, II, and III), this Court should modify its ruling in Johnson to prevent indiscriminate active shooters from avoiding this aggravation simply because a particular number is not met, or that a particular number of people was not present all in one vicinity. For the great risk aggravator to not apply to the facts and circumstances of this case and others like it equates to reasoning that a defendant had not formed premeditation to kill simply because he thought about killing for fifty seconds rather than one minute.

C. Appellant's Case Law Distinguishable

The Appellant cites *Williams v. State*, 574 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 1991) and *Alvin v. State*, 548 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 1989) to support his claim that the facts in this case do not support the great risk aggravator. Those cases, however, are distinguishable from the facts in this case. In *Williams*, the defendant robbed a bank that was

occupied by several people. 574 So. 2d at 138. During the robbery, the defendant shot the bank security guard. *Id.* But Williams only intended to kill the security guard and he did not engage in indiscriminant shooting towards the several bank patrons. *Id.* In *Alvin*, during a robbery-turned-shooting, there was one murder victim, one attempted murder victim, and two bystanders. While the attempted murder victim as actually shot, the facts did not establish that the two bystanders where in the line of fire or even near the gunfire at all. *Id.*

In this case, Kalisz went to the Donovan home intent on killing his sister and "her bloodline." In his effort to kill Donovan and Manessa with "as many bullets as it took," Kalisz engaged in indiscriminate shooting inside and outside of the house, firing in any direction where he saw a person without regard for his surroundings or whether there were neighbors that lie beyond his targets. In connection to the murder at the Donovan home, Kalisz was tracked down in flight from the murders by law enforcement in Dixie County and indiscriminately fired his weapon towards at least five police officers, killing one of them. By way of analogy, if Kalisz had been the defendant in the *Williams* or *Alvin* cases, he would have killed, wounded, or fired at as many bank patrons or bystanders that he could until he ran out of bullets.

D. Harmless Error

Even if this Court finds that the aggravator was applied in error, such error

was harmless. When this Court strikes an aggravating factor on appeal, "the harmless error test is applied to determine whether there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the sentence." *Jennings*, 782 So. 2d at 863; *Douglas*, 878 So. 2d at 1268 ("Striking [an] aggravator necessitates a harmless error analysis."); *Hill*, 643 So. 2d at 1073 ("When this court strikes one or more aggravating circumstances relied upon by a trial judge in sentencing a defendant to death, we may conduct a harmless error analysis based on what the sentencer actually found in determining whether the sentence of death is still appropriate.") *Diaz*, 860 So. 2d at 968 (harmless error found after court struck HAC).

As articulated under the first issue above, at the time of the murders, the Defendant was on felony probation for contributing to the delinquency of a minor and aggravated assault with a deadly weapon. Manessa Donovan and her boyfriend were the victims in those cases. The Defendant was under a no contact order with Manessa when he committed the murders. The contemporaneous murders and attempted murders all served as prior capital felonies for each death sentence, in addition to the murder of Capt. Reed and the prior violent felony of aggravated assault in 2009. Finally, the Defendant committed the murders during the course of a burglary. The remaining, uncontested aggravation significantly outweighs the mitigation in this case and therefore any error in the trial court finding the great risk aggravator is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ISSUE III: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE MURDERS WERE COMMITTED FOR THE PURPOSE OF ELIMINATING WITNESSES OR AVOIDING ARREST

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